2001

# Intermountain Slurry Seal, CNA Insurance v. Labor Commision of Utah, Kyle Stephens : Brief of Appellant

Utah Court of Appeals

## STATEMENT OF THE ISSUES

1. Whether the Labor Commission erred in interpreting and applying Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-413 ( 1997), that a finding of permanent disability under § 34A-2-413 (10) is not subject to any of the other provisions contain in 34A-2-413. The Court of Appeals reviews the Commission's interpretation of § 34A-2-413 under a correction-of-error standard. E.g., Crapo v. Industrial Commission, 922 P.2d 39 (Utah Ct. App. 1996); See also Luckau v. Board of Review, 840 P.2d 811, 813 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

2. Whether Utah Code Ann. §34A-2-413(7) which, defines the time period that an employer is required to pay permanent disability benefits, based upon a final order of the Commission, applies in all cases of permanent disability, including a final order determined by subsection (10). The Court of Appeals reviews the Commission's interpretation of § 34A-2-413 under a correction-of-error standard. E.g., Crapo v. Industrial Commission, 922 P.2d 39 (Utah Ct. App. 1996); See also Luckau v. Board of Review, 840 P.2d 811, 813 (Utah Ct. App. 1992).

---

<sup>1</sup>The entire Utah Workers' Compensation Act was repealed and recodified effective July 1, 1997, and the Industrial Commission was replaced by the Labor Commission. This brief refers primarily to the Act as it was in effect on September 28, 1998, the date of the applicant's claimed injury. In addition, the brief refers to the "Industrial Commission," or simply the "Commission."

## APPLICABLE STATUTES

Utah Code Ann. §34A-2-413. See Addendum for entire section.

Utah Code Ann. §34A-2-413(7).

(7) (a) The period of benefits commences on the date the employee became permanently totally disabled, as determined by a final order of the commission based on the facts and evidence, and ends:

- (i) with the death of the employee; or
- (ii) when the employee is capable of returning to regular, steady work.

(b) An employer or its insurance carrier may provide or locate for a permanently totally disabled employee reasonable, medically appropriate, part-time work in a job earning at least minimum wage provided that employment may not be required to the extent that it would disqualify the employee from Social Security disability benefits.

(c) An employee shall fully cooperate in the placement and employment process and accept the reasonable, medically appropriate, part-time work.

(d) In a consecutive four-week period when an employee's gross income from the work provided under Subsection (7)(b) exceeds \$500, the employer or insurance carrier may reduce the employee's permanent total disability compensation by 50% of the employee's income in excess of \$500.

(e) If a work opportunity is not provided by the employer or its insurance carrier, a permanently totally disabled employee may obtain medically appropriate, part-time work subject to the offset provisions contained in Subsection (7)(d).

- (f) (i) The commission shall establish rules regarding the part-time work and offset.
- (ii) The adjudication of disputes arising under Subsection (7) is governed by Part 8, Adjudication.

(g) The employer or its insurance carrier shall have the burden of proof to show that medically appropriate part-time work is available.

(h) The administrative law judge may:

- (i) excuse an employee from participation in any job that would require the employee to undertake work exceeding the employee's medical capacity and residual functional capacity or for good cause; or
- (ii) allow the employer or its insurance carrier to reduce permanent total disability benefits as provided in Subsection (7)(d) when reasonable, medically appropriate, part-time employment has been offered but the employee has failed to fully cooperate.



Utah Code Ann. §34A-2-413(10).

(10) (a) The loss or permanent and complete loss of the use of both hands, both arms, both feet, both legs, both eyes, or any combination of two such body members constitutes total and permanent disability, to be compensated according to this section.

(b) A finding of permanent total disability pursuant to Subsection (10)(a) is final.

## **STATEMENT OF THE CASE**

### **I. Introduction**

This is a Petition for Review of an Order by the Utah Labor Commission denying Respondents' Motion for Review. The facts are basically uncontested. The applicant, Kyle Stephens suffered an industrial accident on September 8, 1998, which resulted in the amputation of both legs just below the knee. (R. 88). In accordance with Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-413(10), it was found that the applicant was permanent and totally disabled. Soon after the applicant's accident, the respondents had a vocational rehabilitation counselor review the applicant's potential to return to work. (R. 89). Sometime in 1999, the applicant began going to college, taking courses in computer electronics, at the expenses of the respondents. (R. 89).

On or about September 28, 1999, the respondents offered the applicant a job with his prior employer. It was indicated by the applicant at the hearing that he would be able to perform the job, however, he reported that he wanted to finish his schooling. (R. 89). Based upon the uncontested facts that the applicant has been offered a job that fits within his abilities and one which both the applicant and the employer testified could be performed by

the applicant, the issue we are faced with is whether disability benefits are "suspended" in accordance with Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-413(7).

## **II. Procedural History**

The Appellee, Kyle Stephens (the "applicant") instituted these proceedings before the Labor Commission of Utah on July 8, 1999, when he filed an Application for Hearing seeking workers' compensation benefits from his employer, Intermountain Slurry Seal, and its insurer, for the injuries he sustained on September 8, 1998. (R. 2). This was done in spite of the fact that Intermountain Slurry Seal had been making disability payments along with paying for the applicant's schooling and had in no respects contested the claim prior to the filing of the application for hearing. Thereafter, the matter went to a hearing in front of the Honorable Barbara Elicerio, Administrative Law Judge, on November 29, 1999. (R. 77). Following the hearing, Judge Elicerio issued a Preliminary Conclusions of Law and Order. (Attached hereto as Addendum 2.) Thereafter, a second hearing was held on June 8, 2000, wherein Judge Elicerio issued her Final Findings of Fact, Conclusions of Law, and Order holding that it is irrelevant whether or not the applicant is able to return to work in those cases that apply subsection (10) in determining permanent disability. (R. 88)

Respondent Intermountain Slurry Seal filed a Motion for Review with the Industrial Commission on January 4, 2001. (R. 103-109). The Commission, on February 28, 2001 entered an Order, denying Intermountain's Motion for Review. (R. 116-118). Mrs. Schreiber filed a Petition for Review on March 23, 2001.

### **III. Uncontested Facts**

The facts are essentially uncontested. The applicant, Kyle Stephens suffered an industrial accident on September 8, 1998 which result in the amputation of both legs just below the knee. (R. 88). Following the accident, the Respondents began paying disability benefits to the applicant, and have done so continuously. It has been determined that the applicant is permanently disabled because of the loss of both legs in accordance with §34A-2-413(10). (R. 88). It is also uncontested that a job has been provided to the applicant that fits within his abilities and a job that the applicant testified at the hearing he would be capable of performing. (R. 89).

Soon after the applicant's accident, the respondents had a vocational rehabilitation counselor review the applicant's potential to return to work. (R. 89). Following the vocational rehabilitation review, sometime in 1999, the applicant began going to college, taking courses in computer electronics, with the respondents paying for the schooling. (R. 89). In addition, the applicant was offered a full-time dispatcher job by his employer. The dispatching job had a salary of approximately \$2,000 per month, and was a job that fit within the applicant's restrictions. The applicant testified at the hearing that he thought he would be able to do the job. (R. 89). At the time the jobs were offered to the applicant, he reported that he wanted to finish his schooling. (R. 89). At no time has the finding of permanent disability been challenged, rather the question involves the suspension of benefits during the time that the applicant is capable to perform regular steady work as set forth in §34-2-413(7).

## SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The conflict in this case comes when reviewing Utah Code Ann. §34A-2-413(10). That section in essence states that the loss of permanent and complete loss of use of both feet... constitutes total and permanent disability to be compensated according to this section. Subsection b of that section states “finding of permanent and total disability pursuant to Subsection 10(a) is final.”

In this case, the Labor Commission found that since the finding is to be final, that permanent total disability payments must continue until the death of the employee regardless of his ability to return to regular steady work.

It is the Respondents’ position that even though the finding is to be final, subsection 10 states that the applicant is to receive compensation in accordance with the other provisions of the statute. Therefore, in order to determine the duration of payments of a final order as determined by subsection 10 payment ends at death or when the applicant is able to return to regular steady work. This is clearly the intent of the legislature as it included specific language in subsection 10.

Subsection 7 of Utah Code Ann. §34A-2-413 defines how long the compensation payments are to be made. This subsection applies to every case that has had a finding of permanent disability. It is further the Respondents’ position that Subsection 10(b) making a finding of permanent total disability, pursuant to Subsection 10(a) final does not extend the period of time in which payment shall be made. Clearly, Subsection 7(a)(i) is not affected

by the nature of the disability, and payments would clearly cease upon the death of the employee. Subsection 7(a)(ii) also has the same affect. In other words, when an employee is capable of returning to regular steady work, the payments also cease regardless of the disability. The fact that an employee has lost both of his feet is not an indication in all cases that he cannot work. The facts of this case show that the Respondents offered work that the employee could do based upon his physical and mental capacities. In fact, the testimony at the hearing was, both by the Respondent and the employer, that they thought he could do the job.

Subsection 7 has nothing to do with how a final order of the permanent disability is derived, but merely determines how long payments continue when a person is permanently and totally disabled. Section 10(a) specifically states that if you lose the use of both feet, then that constitutes total and permanent disability “to be compensated according to this section.” In other words, “to be compensated according to this section” relates back to 7(a)(i) and 7(a)(ii). In no instance can the payments be made for a longer period of time than subsection 7 allows, even if the finding of permanent disability is based upon subsection 10.

## **ARGUMENT**

- I. In determining disability benefits, the Commission must consider and give effect to the entire statute regardless of how the underlying disability was derived.

Intermountain's argument is really very simple: Under the plain language of the

Workers' Compensation Act, permanent disability benefits are discontinued at the time that an employee is capable of returning to regular steady work regardless of the underlying disability. The issue in this case involves the interpretation and application of Utah Code Ann. §34A-2-413, and specifically subsections 7 and 10.

Matters of statutory construction are questions of law that are reviewed for correctness. Platts v. Parents Helping Parents, 947 P.2d 658, 661 (Utah 1997); see also Jeffs v. Stubbs, 970 P.2d 1234, 1240 (Utah 1998); Pappas v. Richfield City, 962 P.2d 63, 65 (Utah 1998). In addition, "where the issue is a question of law, . . . appellate review gives no deference to the trial judge's or agency's determination, because the appellate court has 'the power and duty to say what the law is and to ensure that it is uniform throughout the jurisdiction.'" Drake v. Industrial Comm'n, 939 P.2d 177, 181 (Utah 1997).

The courts primary duty in interpreting legislation is to give effect to the intent of the legislature. West Jordan v. Morrison, 656 P.2d 445, 446 (Utah 1982). Additionally, there is a fundamental duty to give effect, if possible, to every word in the statute. Provo City Corp. v. State, 795 P.2d 1120, 1123 (Utah 1990). "In the process of interpretation, the courts may not take, strike, or read anything out of a statute or delete, subtract, or omit anything therefrom." Chris & Dick's Lumber and Hardware v. State Tax Comm'n., 791 P.2d 511, 516 (Utah 1990).

Subsection (7) is unambiguous and must therefore be applied in accordance with its plain language. "Only when we find ambiguity in the statute's plain language need we seek

guidance from the legislative history and relevant policy consideration." City of South Salt Lake v. Salt Lake County, 925 P.2d 954, 957 (Utah 1996) (quoting Gohler v. Wood, 919 P.2d 561, 562-63 (Utah 1996)). In our case, the statute could not be any clearer. Subsection 7 provides how long payments continue when a person is permanently and totally disabled, regardless of the underlying disability and the basis of the final order of permanent disability.

**II. The governing statute plainly requires that disability benefits are discontinued upon death or at the time that an employee is capable of returning to regular steady work.**

Intermountain's argument is really very simple: under the plain language of the Worker's Compensation Act, permanent disability benefits are discontinued at the time that an employee is capable of returning to regular steady work. The issue in this case centers around the interpretation and application of Utah Code Ann. §34A-2-413. The Labor Commission did not even address subsection 7, but relied entirely upon §34A-2-413(10). In so doing, the Commission failed to apply the statute as it was intended. Utah Code Ann. §34A-2-413(10) provides that:

(a) The loss or permanent and complete loss of the use of both hands, both arms, both feet, both legs, both eyes, or any combination of two such body members constitutes total and permanent disability, **to be compensated according to this section.**

(b) A finding of permanent and total disability pursuant to subsection 10(a) is final. (emphasis added).

In reliance upon this section, the Labor Commission in its order denying the motion for review held that "Mr. Stephens is entitled to continuing permanent total disability

compensation.” (R. 117). The Commission completely ignored and failed to apply the rest of the statute, in spite of the language that compensation is to be applied in accordance with §34A-2-413. In it’s application of subsection 10, even though it calls for a final order to be entered, subsection 10 still states that benefits are “to be compensated according to this section.” Subsection 7 of this section specifically deals with the distribution of compensation and addresses how compensation is to be applied.

Our Supreme Court has previously stated that “the courts have a fundamental duty to give affect, if possible, to every word in the statute.” Provo City Corp. v. State, 795 P.d 1120, 1123 (Utah 1990). In addition, "in the process of interpretation, the courts may not take, strike, or read anything out of a statute or delete, subtract, or omit anything therefrom." Chris & Dick's Lumber and Hardware v. State Tax Comm'n., 791 P.2d 511, 516 (Utah 1990). The Commission's interpretation of the statute clearly omits and does not give effect to the statute as a whole.

In the Motion for Review, filed by the Respondent's, Respondents specifically requested that the Labor Commission interpret the law and statute found in the Labor Code under the Worker’s Compensation Act Section 34A-2-413(7). The Respondents requested that the Commission analyze Subsection 7 of the permanent total disability section and the amount of payments required to be made in the present case. (R.104).

It is Respondents position that the interpretation of subsection 7 has nothing to do with the underlying facts and the determination of a final order of permanent disability. Rather,



subsection 7 determines how long payments continue when a final order of permanent disability has been entered. The Commission's interpretation and application of the section would have payments go on forever, because there is no provision in subsection 10 that deals with the termination or suspension of benefits, even upon death. This is because subsection 7 determines the period of compensation in all cases where there has been a final order.

Subsection 7 states as follows:

The period of benefits commences on the date the employee became permanently totally disabled, **as determined by a final order of the commission** based on the facts and evidence, and ends:

- (i) with the death of the employee; or
- (ii) when the employee is capable of returning to regular, steady work.

In accordance with the statute, compensation under a final order is to be suspended at either the death of the employee or when the employee is capable of returning to regular, steady work. This subsection specifically states that it applies to a "final order". It does not differentiate between a final order of permanent disability for someone that has a back injury and is found to be permanently disabled in accordance with subsection 1, versus someone who is determined to be permanently disabled through the application of subsection 10. It applies to all final orders, and clearly there is no distinction made for the underlying disability.

It is the Respondents' position that the interpretation of Section 7 has nothing to do with how a final order of the permanent disability is derived, but merely determines how long

payments continue when a person is permanently and totally disabled. Section 10(a) specifically states that if you lose the use of both feet, then that constitutes total and permanent disability "to be compensated according to this section." In other words, "to be compensated according to this section" relates back to 7(a)(i) and 7(a)(ii). In no instance can the payments be made for a longer period of time than subsection 7 allows, even if the finding of permanent disability is based upon subsection 10. Subsection 7 is unambiguous and therefore must be applied in accordance with its plain language.

**III. Suspending benefits in this case when an individual is capable and able to return to regular steady work accomplishes the purpose of the Worker Compensation Act.**

The Statute in its present form Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-413 came into affect during the year 1994. At that time, the legislature overhauled the whole statute dealing with permanent total disability. Prior to that time, an employer was only responsible for 312 weeks of payments on any permanent total disability claim. See Utah Code Ann. § 35-1-67 (1994). Thereafter, the payments were taken over by the state. The statute was amended in 1994 to make the employers responsible for the lifetime of the injured employees.

One of the major issues discussed at the time when the Statute was amended, was whether or not rehabilitation efforts should be made mandatory in the state of Utah. It was agreed that they would not be made mandatory, but sufficient benefits and relief from the lifetime payments were given if rehabilitation efforts were voluntarily begun. See Utah Code Ann. § 34A-2-413. It was discussed at the legislature at the time of the passing of this

Statute that by providing the sufficient care, the employers would perform rehabilitation efforts on a voluntary basis because there would be some benefit for doing so. It was also recognized that the rehabilitation efforts would provide substantial benefits to the injured employees. Hence, the rehabilitation section was added to 34A-2-413 and the payments for permanent total disability claims was limited to 1) the lifetime of the employee, or 2) his capability of returning to regular steady work.

The Labor Commission's interpretation of this statute does away with all incentive for an employer to provide rehabilitative efforts to the injured employee because there is no relief in providing such benefit. As stated above, the employer was paying for rehabilitation efforts which included paying for schooling. However, the interpretation of the statute by the Labor Commission eliminated any incentive for the employer to continue paying for schooling and all other efforts of rehabilitation. As a result of totally taking away any incentive for rehabilitation, and much to the disappointment of the applicant, the employer discontinued rehabilitation that they had voluntarily provided. As such, the Labor Commission order is clearly contrary to what the legislator intended when he overhauled the statute.

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