2001

Intermountain Slurry Seal, CNA Insurance v. Labor Commision of Utah, Kyle Stephens : Brief of Respondent

Utah Court of Appeals

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

SUMMARY OF ARGUMENT

Section 413 of the Act recognizes two methods of qualifying for permanent total disability benefits. The first method, under subsections (1) and (6) of §413, requires the injured worker to prove his or her work-related injuries preclude reemployment or rehabilitation. The second method, provided by subsection (10) of §413, establishes a conclusive presumption of permanent total disability for certain catastrophic injuries:

(a) The loss . . . of both hands, both arms, both feet, both legs, both eyes, or any combination of two such body members constitutes total and permanent disability, to be compensated according to this section.

(b) A finding of permanent total disability compensation pursuant to Subsection (10)(a) is final.

Because Mr. Stephens' lost both his feet in the accident at Intermountain, he qualifies for a final award of permanent total disability benefits under subsection (10). However,

Intermountain argues that Mr. Stephens' subsection (10) benefits can be divested by another subsection (7)(a)(ii) of §413 if Mr. Stephens is "capable or returning to regular, steady work."

The ALJ and Commission have rejected Intermountain's argument. Thus, the issue before this Court is the correct construction of subsections (7)(a)(ii) and (10) of §413.

Read in isolation, without reference to other provisions of §413, subsections (7)(a)(ii) and (10) are ambiguous. They can be read as supporting the position of either the Commission or Intermountain. But this ambiguity is resolved when subsections (7)(a)(ii) and (10) are considered in context with other provisions of §413. Furthermore, the history of §413, the purposes of the Workers' Compensation Act, and authority from other jurisdictions and scholars all support the Commission's conclusion that benefits awarded under subsection (10) are not subject to the limitation of subsection (7)(a)(ii).

The Commission believes it has correctly interpreted subsections (7)(a)(ii) and (10). However, if this Court concludes the Commission has erred, the Court should remand Mr. Stephens' claim to the Commission for the fact-finding necessary to apply subsection (7)(a)(ii).

ARGUMENT

POINT ONE: THE PROVISIONS OF SECTION 413 SHOWS A LEGISLATIVE INTENT THAT SUBSECTION (10) BENEFITS ARE NOT CONDITIONED ON AN INABILITY TO WORK.

When the provisions of a statute are unclear, this Court will examine the entire statutory scheme to attempt to harmonize the statute's provisions. Anabasis, Inc. v. Labor

Commission, 427 Utah Adv. Rep. 18, 19 (Utah Ct. App. 2001), citing V-1 Oil Co. v. Dept. of Env'tl. Quality, 904 P.2d 214 217 (Utah Ct. App. 1995) and Mesa Dev. Co. v. Sandy City, 948 P.2d 366, 368-69 (Utah Ct. App. 1997). In this case, when §413 is read as a whole, the various provisions of the statute indicate that subsection (10) benefits were not intended to be subject to the limitations of subsection (7)(a)(ii).

Section 413 of the Act recognizes two methods of qualifying for permanent total disability benefits. The first method, under subsections (1) and (6) of §413, requires the injured worker to prove his or her work-related injuries preclude reemployment or rehabilitation. The second method, provided by subsection (10) of §413, establishes a conclusive presumption of permanent total disability for certain catastrophic injuries.

Most claims for permanent total disability benefits are of the first type and are subject to the standards set forth in subsections (1) and (6) of §413. Subsection (1) establishes criteria for evaluating whether a work-related injury rises to the level of a permanent total disability. Subsection (6) then imposes the additional requirement, prohibiting any "final" award of permanent total disability benefits until the Commission has considered the injured worker's possibilities for rehabilitation under the Utah Injured Worker Reemployment Act, Title 34A, Chapter 8, Utah Code Annotated. The Commission must also consider any reemployment plan submitted by the employer or insurance carrier. No subsection (1) claim can become final without consideration of the claimant's ability to return to work.

This is in direct contrast to the second category of permanent total disability claims, governed by subsection (10) of §413. Subsection (10) claims are limited to catastrophic loss of limbs or sight. Subsection (10) requires **no** showing that the injured worker cannot work. Instead, subsection (10) simply provides that loss of two limbs or eyes "constitutes total and permanent disability" and "is final."

Thus, in those instances where a worker has suffered any of the enumerated catastrophic injuries, subsection (10) establishes a conclusive presumption of permanent total disability. Utah State Road Commission v. Industrial Commission, 168 P.2d 319, 322 (Utah 1946). By the plain language of subsection (10), such a finding of permanent total disability "is final." In light of this conclusive presumption and "finality" of permanent total disability established by subsection (10), without reference to the claimant's ability to work, it would be nonsensical to conclude that benefits could then be immediately divested under subsection (7)(a)(ii) on the grounds of the claimant's ability to work.

Subsection (11) of §413 provides an additional indication that subsection (10) benefits are not subject to the "return to work" limitation of subsection (7)(a)(ii). Subsection (11) establishes a method for insurance carriers to prove that an injured worker is no longer permanently and totally disabled. Such proof of ability to work can then be used to trigger the application of subsection (7)(a)(ii) and cut off the injured worker's right to future permanent total disability benefits. Specifically, subsection (11)(a) provides (emphasis added.) :

An insurer or self-insured employer may periodically reexamine a permanent total disability claim, **except those based on Subsection (10)**, . . . to determine whether the worker remains permanently totally disabled.

In other words, subsection (11) explicitly precludes any reexamination of subsection (10) claims to determine if the claimant has regained his or her ability to work.

Once again, it would be nonsensical to assume that on one hand the Legislature intended that subsection (10) benefits could be divested under subsection (7)(a)(ii) on the grounds the claimant can work, while on the other hand the Legislature specifically precluded any reexamination of the subsection (10) claimant's ability to work.

**POINT TWO: THE HISTORY OF §413 INDICATES THAT
SUBSECTION (10) BENEFITS ARE NOT SUBJECT TO THE
"RETURN TO WORK" PROVISION OF SUBSECTION (7)(a)(ii)**

"In construing the meaning of a statute, the courts must consider the history of the subject matter involved, the end to be achieved, the mischief to remedied and the purpose to be accomplished." *Sutherland Statutes & Statutory Construction*, 6th ed., Vol. 2A, §45.02. Or, as once observed by Justice Oliver Wendell Holmes, "a page of history is worth a volume of logic." New York Trust Co. v. Eisner, 256 U.S. 345, 349 (1921). In this case, the historical development of §413 provides further evidence that subsection (10) benefits are not subject to the "return to work" provisions of subsection (7)(a)(ii).

Provisions similar to §413(10) have been present in Utah's Workers' Compensation

Act since at least 1933.¹ In 1951, what was then §42-1-63 governed claims for permanent total disability compensation. (See Addendum E, which includes copies of all versions of the permanent total disability statute since 1951.) Although the 1951 statute had not yet been divided into subsections, it nevertheless recognized the same two categories of permanent total disability that are recognized by the current §413.

The first category of claim under the 1951 statute is similar to subsection (1) claims under current law. For such claims, the 1951 statute required that the Commission tentatively determine whether the injured worker was permanently and totally disabled. If so, the Commission was required to refer the injured worker to vocational rehabilitation. Benefits could be denied if the injured worker failed to cooperate.

The second category of claims under the 1951 statute is essentially identical to what are now subsection (10) claims. For these claims, the 1951 statute provided (emphasis added):

The loss or permanent and complete loss of use of both hands or both arms, or both feet or both legs, or both eyes or any two thereof; shall constitute total and permanent disability. **to be compensated according to the provisions of this section and no tentative finding of permanent total disability shall be required in such instances;**

¹

In Utah State Road Commission, 168 P.2d at 322, the Utah Supreme Court referenced §41-2-63, Revised Statutes of Utah, 1933, as providing that certain injuries entitled injured workers to “a conclusive presumption of permanent disability.”

The following points are significant regarding the language of the 1951 statute: First, the two categories of claims that exist in the current §413 were already recognized in 1951. Second, the category of claims which corresponds to the current subsection (10) claims were already exempt from any requirement that the claimant be incapable of work or rehabilitation. Finally, in addressing the compensability of what are now subsection (10) claims, the 1951 statute already included the phrase that such claims were to "to be compensated according to the provisions of this section." It is clear from the context of the 1951 statute that the foregoing phrase signified only that the dollar amount of benefits were to be computed according to the formula set forth in the statute.

The foregoing statutory scheme was maintained for the next thirty seven years. In 1988, the permanent total disability statute was reenacted and divided into subsections. The 1988 statute recognized the same two categories of permanent total disability claims that had existed under prior statutes. The first category, governed by subsections (1) and (5), continued the requirement that no finding of permanent total disability could be final until the Commission had determined whether the claimant could be rehabilitated. Subsection (5)(b) then added the following new language:

If a preponderance of the evidence shows that successful rehabilitation is not possible, the commission shall order that the employee be paid weekly permanent total disability compensation benefits. The period of benefits commences on the date the employee became permanently totally disabled, as determined by the commission based on the facts and evidence, and ends with the death of the employee or when the employee is capable of returning to regular, steady work.

The foregoing language from the 1988 statute marks the first appearance of any provision explicitly limiting permanent total disability benefits to injured workers who were incapable of "returning to regular, steady work." However, by its placement within subsection (5), this new limitation applied only to the first category of permanent total disability claims. The limitation did not apply to the second category of claims arising from loss of limbs or sight which were governed by subsection (6) of the 1988 statute. In fact, the plain language of subsection (6) carried forward the long-standing provision that loss of limbs or sight established a conclusive presumption of permanent total disability. In 1992, subsection 5(b) was further subdivided, but with no change to the statutory language itself. Among the new subdivisions to subsection 5(b) was the following:

(iv) The period of benefits commences on the date the employee became permanently totally disabled, as determined by the commission based on the facts and evidence, and ends with the death of the employee or when the employee is capable of returning to regular, steady work.

In 1994, the statute was amended again and the foregoing subsection (5)(b)(iv) became subsection (7). No change whatsoever was made to the language of the subsection.

The Commission has set forth this long history of the permanent total disability statute in order to make three points.

First, it has been a constant historical feature of the Utah workers' compensation system that there are two types of permanent total disability claims. The first category required a finding that the injured worker cannot be rehabilitated. But the second category

of permanent total disability claims, arising from catastrophic loss of limbs or sight, has not been subject to any requirement that the injured worker be unable to work.

Second, Intermountain argues that the 1994 amendment, changing only the placement of subsection (7) but not its language, was intended to make the second category of permanent total disability claims subject to a requirement that the injured worker be unable to work. Intermountain has cited nothing in the legislative record to support its theory that in 1994 the Legislature intended to undo decades of established workers' compensation law and practice. The Commission has itself reviewed recordings of legislative action on the 1994 amendments and can find no debate, comment or discussion that supports Intermountain's position.

Finally, Intermountain contends the 1994 amendment was intended to be "sea change" in workers' compensation law by conditioning the compensability of subsection (10) claims on the reemployment provisions of subsection (7)(a)(ii). But in fact, Mr. Stephens' claim is the first time such an argument has been raised before the Commission. The Commission is unaware that any subsection (10) claims arising during the seven years since 1994 have been subjected to subsection (7)(a)(ii)'s requirements.

POINT THREE: AUTHORITY FROM OTHER JURISDICTIONS AND SCHOLARS SUPPORT THE COMMISSION'S INTERPRETATION OF SUBSECTIONS (10) AND (7)(a)(ii)

Provisions such as subsection (10) and (7)(a)(ii) are relatively common among the various states' workers' compensation statutes. As noted in *Larson's Workers'*

Compensation Law, §83.08:

Special statutory provisions may supersede the general principles controlling the relation between medical and wage loss factors in determining total disability. The commonest example of this type of statute is the familiar provision that certain combinations of losses of members shall be presumed to constitute total disability. The presumption may be *prima facie* or conclusive. A typical statute applies the presumption to loss or loss of use of both hands, both arms, both legs, both feet, both eyes, or any two of these. . .

Under such a statute, depending on its wording, evidence of actual earnings would either be entirely immaterial, or would have to be extremely convincing to overcome the presumption.

99 CJS, 201, Workers' Compensation §581: "Loss of Member-Declared Total Disability," discusses the issue as follows:

A statute may provide that the loss of both hands or arms, or both feet or legs, or both eyes, or any two of these members, is compensated as a total disability. Such a provision should be complied with, rather than following a provision for loss of the specific member.

Where certain injuries constitute total disability under the act, the schedule compensation is awarded without regard to the effect of the injury on earning power, even though the claimant obtains employment at a better wage than before the loss.

In Shoop v. Chambersburg Baking Co., 149 A.2d 179, 181 (Pa. 1959), the Pennsylvania court confronted facts and statutory provisions analogous to those presented here. The Shoop court rejected arguments similar to those raised by Intermountain in this case:

Our decisions have consistently adhered to the proposition that compensation for specific losses under Section 306(c) [the provision of Pennsylvania law equivalent to Utah's subsection (10)] is governed by

different principles than compensation for total and partial disability under Sections 306(a) and 306(b). For all injuries, except those which fall within Section 306(c), the statute provides compensation according to the nature of the injury, and the degree of disability which may result therefrom is immaterial. (Citations omitted.) The economic consequence of a specific loss under Section 306(c) has no bearing on the right to compensation for that injury. (Citations omitted.) Section 306(c) contemplates payment for the permanent injuries specified without considering, but including, any disability, whether total, partial, or none at all. (Citations omitted.)

The Commission believes that §413 Utah's Act in general, and subsection (10) in particular, are consistent with the comments and analysis of the foregoing authorities.

POINT FOUR: THE WORKERS' COMPENSATION ACT IS LIBERALLY CONSTRUED IN FAVOR OF COMPENSATION.

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